

Annual

BUSINESS MEETING – 2024 –

Table of Contents

	Agenda2
	Annual Meeting Governing Rules
	DRAFT Minutes of 2023 VLCT Meeting4
	DRAFT Minutes of 2023 PACIF and VERB
	Meeting
	PACIF Financial Audit Report10
	VERB Financial Audit Report12
	VLCT <i>Preliminary</i> Financial Audit Report
	VLCT Nominating Committee Report16
	PACIF Nominating Committee Report17
	VERB Nominating Committee Report18
	DRAFT 2025-2026 Municipal Policy
	1.0 Finance, Administration, and
	Intergovernmental Relations
	2.0 Transportation23
	3.0 Public Safety26
	4.0 Quality of Life and Housing
	5.0 Environment
1	

October 1, 2024 3:00 PM – 5:00 PM

Zoom Killington Grand Hotel Killington, Vermont

Vermont League of Cities & Towns

VLCT Employment Resource and Benefits Trust, Inc.

VLCT Property and Casualty Intermunicipal Fund

Agenda

2024 Annual Meeting of the Memberships of

Vermont League of Cities and Towns (VLCT) VLCT Employment Resource and Benefits Trust, Inc. (VERB) VLCT Property and Casualty Intermunicipal Fund, Inc. (PACIF)

Tuesday, October 1, 2024 Zoom | Killington Grand Hotel, Killington, Vermont 3:00 PM – 5:00 PM

I. Welcome and Introduction

II. VLCT, PACIF, & VERB Annual Business Meeting

- A. Call to Order by President Bill Fraser
- B. Approval of the Agenda
- C. Approval of the Governing Rules
- D. Approval of the Minutes
- E. Financial Reports
- F. Organizational Update
- G. Report of the VLCT Nominating Committee
- H. Election of VLCT Officers
- I. Report of the PACIF Nominating Committee
- J. Election of PACIF Officers
- K. Report of the VERB Nominating Committee
- L. Election of VERB Officers
- M. Municipal Policy Review, Discussion, Amendment and Adoption
- N. Any Other Business
- O. Adjourn
- III. Conclusion

Page 2

Annual Meeting Governing Rules

- 1. The Annual Meeting of the Vermont League of Cities and Towns (VLCT), the VLCT Property and Casualty Intermunicipal Fund, Inc. (VLCT PACIF), and the VLCT Employment Resource and Benefits Trust, Inc. (VERB) shall be held at a specific time and place designated by the Board of Directors of each entity.
- 2. Quorum. The presence of officials representing 10 percent of the member towns and cities shall constitute a quorum. For VLCT's insurance trusts, the presence of 10 percent of VLCT PACIF's membership and 5 percent of VERB's membership establishes a quorum for each entity.
- 3. Voting. Voting will occur by voice vote, in which case the official representing each full member in good standing, as may be designated by the legislative body of the member, shall cast one vote. A majority of the votes cast shall be necessary for a decision. A roll call may be required should seven or more full members demand one.
- 4. No official shall speak unless so recognized by the President, and shall address the President in the proper manner, e.g., "Mr. President" or "Ms./Madam President." Only currently serving local officials of members who are in good standing as determined by the Credentials Committee of the Board of Directors may participate in the meeting.
- 5. Any official who wishes to speak shall raise their hand and wait for the moderator or President to recognize them. Officials may then address the President, giving their name and the town or city they represent.
- 6. No official may speak a second time on an issue until all other members have had a first chance to speak on that issue.
- 7. The President may set a limit on time for debating a question if the need arises.
- 8. The President may direct staff to remove an official from the Zoom if they violate the rules more than three times.
- 9. Elections. Nominations of elective officers shall be made by a Nominating Committee for each entity: in addition, nominations may be made from the floor. Only qualified officials as defined by the Bylaws shall be eligible for election.
- 10. There shall be no voting by proxy.
- 11. All questions of procedure not covered by these rules shall be determined in accordance with Robert's Rules of Order, Newly Revised 11th Edition.

VLCT Minutes DRAFT

Vermont League of Cities and Towns

2023 Annual Business Meeting

In-Person Meeting, Diamond II Room, DoubleTree by Hilton,

South Burlington, Vermont

September 26, 2023

Minutes

VLCT Board of Directors President and South Burlington City Manager Jessie Baker called the meeting to order at 1:55 p.m. and introduced members of the VLCT Board of Directors.

Jessie Baker introduced the agenda of the 2023 VLCT Annual Meeting. By motion duly made by West Rutland Town Manager and VLCT Board of Directors member Mary Ann Goulette and seconded by Cabot Selectboard Chair and VLCT Board of Directors member Michael Hogan, the agenda was adopted unanimously.

Jessie Baker introduced the minutes of the 2022 Annual Business meeting. On motion duly made by West Fairlee Selectboard Chair and VLCT Board of Directors member Delsie Hoyt and seconded by Barre Town Manager Nicholas Storellicastro, the minutes were adopted unanimously as printed.

Jessie Baker introduced the governing rules of the 2023 VLCT Annual Meeting. On motion duly made by Brookfield Town Treasurer Amy Ingrassia, and seconded by Mary Ann Goulette, the rules were adopted unanimously.

Jessie Baker introduced VLCT Executive Director Ted Brady to offer the Executive Director's Annual Report. Ted Brady started off by presenting a video created by VLCT summer intern Jacob Kindestin. Ted then offered the Executive Director's Report.

Ted Brady introduced VLCT Finance Director Seth Abbene who presented the 2022 audit results.

VLCT President Jessie Baker then offered congratulations and thanks to Jared Cardwell, former president of the VLCT Board of Directors and current PACIF Board member, Lucrecia Wonsor VLCT Board of Director member, and Miro Weinberger current past president of the VLCT Board of Directors. Miro Weinberger offered remarks on his tenure on the VLCT Board of Directors.

DRAFT

Miro Weinberger then presented the VLCT Board of Directors Nominating Committee Report which included the nomination of the following members:

President, term expires October 2024:

• Bill Frasier, City Manager, City of Montpelier

Vice-President, term expires October 2024:

MaryAnn Goulette, Town Manager, Town of West Rutland

For five, two-year terms expiring October 2025:

- Charlie Hancock, Montgomery Selectboard
- Delsie Hoyt, West Fairlee Selectboard
- Georgette Wolf-Ludwig, Fairlee Town Clerk and Assistant Treasurer
- Kristine Lott, Mayor, City of Winooski
- Nikki Stevens, Bradford Selectboard

Miro Weinberger asked for a motion to approve these members to the VLCT Board of Directors. On motion duly made by Brookfield Town Treasurer Amy Ingrassia and seconded by Town of Newfane Selectboard member Katy Johnson-Aplin, the motion was approved unanimously.

President Elect Bill Fraser then offered his remarks.

By motion duly made by Dover Selectboard Vice Chair Sarah Shippee and seconded by Stowe Town Manager Charles Safford, the motion was approved unanimously, and the Annual Meeting adjourned at 2:34 p.m.

Respectfully submitted,

Jeremy Weiss

Membership and Administrative Coordinator

PACIF & VERB Minutes

Subject to Member Approval

MINUTES OF THE JOINT ANNUAL MEETING OF THE MEMBERSHIP VLCT PROPERTY AND CASUALTY INTERMUNICIPAL FUND VLCT EMPLOYMENT RESOURCE AND BENEFITS TRUST, INC. SEPTEMBER 26, 2023 HILTON DOUBLETREE HOTEL – SOUTH BURLINGTON, VERMONT

PACIF Directors Present: Jackie Higgins, David Atherton, Jared Cadwell, Bruce Urie, Rob Gaiotti, Patrick Moreland, Bryan Young, Erik Wells, Judy Frazier, Todd Odit, Charles Safford and Kathleen Ramsay

VERB Directors Present: Charles Safford, Todd Odit, Bryan Young, Jared Cadwell and Kathleen Ramsay

A quorum was confirmed for both the VERB and PACIF Trust organizations by participant count.

Executive Director Ted Brady welcomed everyone to the meeting, thanked the Town Meeting sponsor, and gave some introductory remarks. Mr. Brady then turned the meeting over to VERB Trust Board President Charles Safford.

President Safford called the VERB Trust Annual Meeting to order at 1:12 p.m.

Upon motion (Murphy/Bergmeier), duly adopted, the agenda was unanimously approved by the membership.

President Safford asked for a motion to approve the 2022 VERB Annual Meeting Minutes.

Upon motion (Major/Ingrassia), duly adopted, the minutes of the VERB 2022 Annual Meeting were unanimously approved by the membership.

VLCT Chief Financial Officer Seth Abbene reviewed a summary of the 2022 VERB Trust audit. The auditors issued an unqualified or "clean" 2022 audit with no material weaknesses in internal controls noted and no adjustments. Net position decreased 6.1% to \$3.8 million largely due to unrealized investment losses and contribution credits of \$100,000 returned to members. Contributions were down .9% due to a slight reduction in member rates Claims for 2022 amounted to \$228,336, which was essentially flat compared to the 2021 claims costs of \$227,387 (net of federal credits). Investment income was down \$368,804, and general and administrative expenses increased 5.3% due to modest increases in the VLCT administrative services contract.

Subject to Member Approval

Upon motion (Johnson/Shippee), duly adopted, the report of the 2022 VERB Trust audit was unanimously accepted by the membership.

President Safford reviewed a brief history of the VERB Trust, beginning as the Unemployment Insurance Trust in 1978, then merging with the Health Trust in 2015 and returning in 2021 to solely serving as an Unemployment Insurance Trust. He also introduced the other members of the VERB Board. Rates increased slightly for 2023 by 6.1% due to the state's decrease in the taxable wage base, which always has an opposite impact on the rates. Unemployment claims continue to normalize and have returned to pre-pandemic levels. Despite some volatility in recent years due to pandemic related claims, rates are expected to remain stable moving forward, although the rates for 2024 have not yet been determined. The board is scheduled to meet next week with the actuary to start the rate setting process. President Safford also noted recent board consolidation efforts resulted in all of the VERB Board members also serving on the PACIF Board. VLCT staff intend to further these efforts in the coming year by exploring the potential of a single board overseeing both Trusts, and may come to the membership at the next annual meeting to seek approval on this proposed change. President Safford also made note of key legislation passed this year, ACT 76, which requires all employers, including municipal entities, to participate in unemployment insurance and no longer exempts employers with four or fewer employees.

Todd Odit presented the Report of the Nominating Committee and slate of officers.

Upon motion (Atherton/Johnson), duly adopted, the members voted unanimously to accept the Report of the Nominating Committee and the slate of officers as presented with a renewed three-year term for director Bryan Young.

President Safford called for a motion to adjourn.

Upon motion (Goulette/Bergmeier) the members voted unanimously to adjourn the VERB Trust annual meeting at 1:28 p.m.

President Safford introduced PACIF Trust Board President Jackie Higgins.

President Higgins called the PACIF annual meeting to order at 1:29 p.m.

Upon motion (Tucker/Frazier), duly adopted, the agenda was unanimously approved by the membership.

President Higgins asked for a motion to approve the 2022 PACIF Annual Meeting Minutes.

Subject to Member Approval

Upon motion (Tucker/Atherton), duly adopted, the minutes of the PACIF 2022 Annual Meeting were unanimously approved by the membership.

Seth Abbene reviewed a summary of the 2022 PACIF audit. The auditors issued an unqualified or "clean" 2022 audit with no material weaknesses in internal controls noted and no adjustments. Net position decreased 11.5% to \$63.1 million due to unrealized losses in the investment portfolio. Contributions were up 1.3% to \$25.2 million due to the combined effects of a slight rate decrease coupled with increased exposures, such as payroll and property values. Contribution credits of \$1.5 million were returned to members. Claims were down 20.9% to \$8.5 million due to favorable development, and the loss ratio was 43% with a combined ratio of 77%, well within the expected range. Despite investment losses, the Trust maintains a strong financial position.

Upon motion (Lawless/Bergmeier), duly adopted, the report of the 2022 PACIF Trust audit was unanimously accepted by the membership.

President Higgins introduced herself and the other members of the PACIF Board. President Higgins echoed President Safford's remarks regarding board consolidation efforts. She went on to thank VLCT staff and PACIF members and noted key accomplishments for 2023. She went on to note that 2023 has also been extremely challenging due to the catastrophic flooding, and mentioned that these types of events, which have unfortunately grown more frequent, have made it increasingly difficult to get adequate flood reinsurance for members. Looking ahead to 2024, rates are not yet available, but there will likely be a modest increase due to increased exposures and losses, yet some return of net position in the form of contribution credits is still anticipated.

Risk Management Services Director, Joe Damiata, provided a staff update and highlighted all of the services and programs that PACIF provides including law enforcement consulting services, HR consulting services and the EPL (Employment Practices Liability) Referral Program along with long standing excellent loss control, and claims services. Mr. Damiata also mentioned that staff is working to implement a new underwriting and claims system, expected to go live in 2025, which will work more efficiently and easily for staff and members. Cybersecurity coverage remains a challenge to secure for members, but staff anticipates it will continue as is at least through 2024.

Director Judy Frazier presented the Report of the Nominating Committee and slate of officers.



Upon motion (Hogan/Lawless), duly adopted, the members voted unanimously to accept the Report of the Nominating Committee and the slate of officers as presented with renewed three-year terms for Aaron Frank, Charles Safford, Bruce Urie and Erik Wells.

President Higgins called for a motion to adjourn.

Upon motion (Ingrassia/Frazier) the members voted unanimously to adjourn the PACIF Trust annual meeting at 1:56 p.m.

Respectfully submitted,

Kelley Avery

Fred Satink

Assistant Secretary (VERB)

Assistant Secretary (PACIF)

Page 9

PACIF Financial Audit Report

Johnson Lambert issued clean audit opinion on March 28, 2024.

- No audit adjustments or uncorrected misstatements
- No significant unusual transactions
- No disagreements or difficulties in performing the audit

PACIF Financial Statement Highlights: Statement of Net Position

	D	ecember 31, 2023	December 31, 2022	
Cash and investments Other assets		115,696,153	\$	105,348,956
		2,306,108		3,888,249
Total assets	\$	118,002,261	\$	109,237,205
Other lishilities	\$	7 220 204	\$	6 002 270
Other liabilities		7,239,294	⊅	6,902,379
Net claim reserves		46,454,891		39,262,295
Total liabilities		53,694,185		46,164,674
Net position				
Restricted		200,000		350,000
Unrestricted		64,108,076		62,722,531
Total net position		64,308,076		63,072,531
Total liabilities and net position	\$	118,002,261	\$	109,237,205

PACIF Statements of Revenues, Expenses, and Changes in Net Position

		2023	 2022	
Fund contributions	\$	26,415,295	\$ 25,242,183	
Other revenues		80,398	 172,165	
Total operating revenues		26,495,693	 25,414,348	
Operating expenses: Provision for losses and loss				
adjustment expenses, net		18,633,588	8,529,636	
Broker fees		119,600	115,001	
Reinsurance expenses		5,314,376	5,221,858	
General and administrative expenses		7,286,866	 6,702,563	
Total operating expenses		31,354,430	 20,569,058	
Operating (loss) income		(4,858,737)	 4,845,290	
Non-operating revenues (expenses): Investment income Net increase (decrease) in fair		4,242,214	2,639,649	
value of investments		3,484,386	(14,043,654)	
Investment fees		(132,318)	 (135,765)	
Total non-operating revenues (expenses)		7,594,282	(11,539,770)	
Member distribution- contribution credit		1,500,000	 1,500,000	
Non-operating income (loss)		6,094,282	 (13,039,770)	
Change in net position		1,235,545	(8,194,480)	

VERB Financial Audit Report

Johnson Lambert issued clean audit opinion on May 31, 2024.

- No audit adjustments or uncorrected misstatements
- No significant unusual transactions
- No disagreements or difficulties in performing the audit

VERB Financial Statement Highlights: Statement of Net Position

		2023		2022	
Assets Cash and cash equivalents Debt securities, at fair value Mutual funds, at fair value Accrued investment income Due from affiliates Accounts receivable		410,432 2,790,250 1,218,087 21,759 10,855 5,258	\$	688,014 2,485,323 867,981 17,337 - 3,044	
Total Assets	\$	4,456,641	\$	4,061,699	
Liabilities and Net Position Liabilities Due to Vermont Department of Labor Contributions received in advance Contribution credits payable Accounts payable and accrued expenses	\$	28,267 142,394 81,573 12,519	\$	42,894 148,103 79,834 9,796	
Total Liabilities		264,753		280,627	
Net Position Unrestricted Total Net Position		4,191,888 4,191,888		3,781,072 3,781,072	
Total Liabilities and Net Position	\$	4,456,641	\$	4,061,699	

Page 12

Operating Revenues Member contributions Management fees	Year Ended 2023 \$ 727,264 21,000	Year Ended 2022 \$ 719,801 21,000	Percentage Change 1.0 % - %
Other income	190	2,615	(92.7)%
Total operating revenues	748,454	743,416	0.7 %
Operating Expenses Claims benefit payments General and administrative	222,880	228,336	(2.4)%
expenses	278,731	292,284	(4.6)%
Total operating expenses	501,611	520,620	(3.7)%
Operating gain (loss)	246,843	222,796	10.8 %
Non-Operating Revenues Net investment income (loss), net of fees Member distributions-	263,973	(368,804)	(171.6)%
contribution credits	(100,000)	(100,000)	- %
Change in Net Position	410,816	(246,008)	267.0 %
Net Position, Beginning of Year	3,781,072	4,027,080	<mark>(6.1)</mark> %
Net Position, End of Year	<u>\$ 4,191,888</u>	<u>\$ 3,781,072</u>	10.9 %

VERB Statements of Revenues, Expenses, and Changes in Net Position

VLCT *Preliminary* Financial Audit Report

The audit for VLCT is still in progress, items pending:

- GASB 96 SBITA adoption
- VMERS confirmation

The audit is anticipated to wrap up later this month with no issues.

VLCT Preliminary (2023) Financial Statement Highlights: Statement of Net Position

	-	December 31, 2023	December 31, 2022 (restated)		
Assets Current assets	\$	3,042,823	\$	2,475,763	
ROU assets - leases (net)	μ	687,870	₽	2,475,765 917,160	
Capital assets	_	179,707		298,837	
Total Assets		3,910,400		3,691,760	
Deferred Outflows of Resources Deferred pension amounts		694,301		904,328	
Liabilities					
Current payables and accruals		817,642		520,628	
Current deferred revenue		665,447		706,869	
Accrued compensated absences		277,718		261,432	
Non-current liabilities	_	3,626,877		3,863,752	
Total Liabilities	_	5,387,684		5,352,681	
Deferred Inflow of Resources					
Deferred pension expenses	_	92,498		137,055	
Net Position, End of Year	\$	(875,528)	\$	(893,648)	

Page 14

VLCT Preliminary (2023) Statements of Revenues, Expenses, and Changes in Net Position

	 	December 31, 2023	 December 31, 2022	Percentage <u>Change</u>		December <u>31, 2021</u> (restated)
Operating Revenues						
Member dues	\$	1,237,967	\$ 1,190,697	4.0 %	\$	1,178,471
Services		122,080	245,872	(50.3) %		119,976
Trusts		5,872,698	5,583,870	5.2 %		5,010,654
Commission income		119,810	125,600	(4.6) %		95,003
Sponsorships		154,719	166,902	(7.3) %		48,949
Other revenue	_	361,939	 258,733	39.9 %	_	294,437
Total operating revenues		7,869,325	7,571,674	3.9 %		6,747,490
Operating Expenses						
Combined cost centers		7,755,439	7,466,236	3.9 %		6,474,581
Capital costs	_	189,510	 150,165	26.2 %	_	170,922
Total operating expenses		7,944,949	7,616,401	4.4 %		6,645,503
Operating gain (loss)		(84,572)	(44,727)	(161.8) %		101,987
Non-Operating Revenues	_	93,790	 13,587	590.3 %	_	1,588
Change in Net Position		18,167	(31,140)	213.0 %		103,575
Net Position, Beginning of Year		(893,648)	(862,508)	(3.6) %		(395,893)
GASB 87 adoption			 -		_	(570,190)
Net Position, End of Year	\$	(875,484)	\$ (893,648)	2.0 %	\$	(862,508)

Page 15

VLCT Nominating Committee Report

VERMONT LEAGUE OF CITIES AND TOWNS

REPORT OF THE NOMINATING COMMITTEE

August 22, 2024

VLCT Board of Directors:

The Nominating Committee appointed pursuant to the VLCT Bylaws submits the following report:

1. The Committee received nominations and names of qualified individuals interested in serving, and discussed the criteria it deemed essential to satisfy the leadership requirements of VLCT.

2. The Committee is required to submit recommendations to the Board for the five director positions with expiring terms in October 2024 and for the positions of President and Vice President.

3. The Committee, in recognition of the objectives of representation included in the Bylaws and approved by the Board of Directors, has made a determined effort to represent the very complex composition of the policy leadership structure of Vermont's cities and towns as well as the diversity of the municipalities themselves and the diversity and experience of individual local officials. We believe that has been achieved within the limits of the governing body size with which we are required to work.

6. The Nominating Committee recommends for the Board of Directors for the five director positions with expiring terms in October 2024:

- Mike Doenges, Mayor, City of Rutland
- Julie Hance, Town Manager, Chester
- Mike Hogan, Selectboard Chair, Cabot
- Ann Lawless, Selectboard Chair, Wheelock
- Emma Mulvaney-Stanak, Mayor, City of Burlington

7. The Nominating Committee recommends for the office of President and Vice President:

- President: Bill Fraser, City Manager, City of Montpelier
- Vice President: Mary Ann Goulette, Town Manager, Town of West Rutland

Page 16

PACIF Nominating Committee Report

Respectfully submitted,

Jessie Baker, Chairperson; Bill Fraser, Mary Ann Goulette, Georgette Wolf-Ludwig

REPORT OF THE NOMINATING COMMITTEE VLCT PROPERTY AND CASUALTY INTERMUNICIPAL FUND, INC.

2024 ANNUAL MEETING OF THE MEMBERSHIP THIS MEETING WILL BE HELD at the Killington Grand Hotel, Killington, VT TUESDAY, OCTOBER 1, 2024

3:00 PM

The voting members of the VLCT Property and Casualty Intermunicipal Fund, Inc. assembled at its Annual Meeting are hereby notified:

The Nominating Committee appointed by the President submits the following Report:

The following members of the 2024 Board of Directors will serve one more year, until December 31, 2025:

David Atherton, Town of Brandon Judy Frazier, Town of Proctor Rob Gaiotti, Town of Dorset Patrick Moreland, Town of Brattleboro

The following members of the 2024 Board of Directors will serve two more years, until December 31, 2026:

Aaron Frank, Town of Colchester Charles Safford, Town of Stowe Bruce Urie, Town of Craftsbury Erik Wells, Town of Williston

The Committee is required to submit nominations to fill up to four three-year terms.

The Committee recommends the following candidates to the Board of Directors to serve three-year terms until December 31, 2027:

Jacqueline Higgins, Town of Williamstown Kelly Murphy, City of Montpelier Bryan Young, Town of Orwell

Page 17

VERB Nominating Committee Report

Respectfully submitted, Aaron Frank, Chair (Town of Colchester), Charles Safford (Town of Stowe), Bruce Urie (Town of Craftsbury) and Erik Wells (Town of Williston) **REPORT OF THE NOMINATING COMMITTEE VLCT EMPLOYMENT RESOURCE AND BENEFITS TRUST, INC.**

2024 ANNUAL MEETING OF THE MEMBERSHIP THIS MEETING WILL BE HELD at the Killington Grand Hotel, Killington, VT TUESDAY, OCTOBER 1, 2024 3:00 PM

The voting members of the VLCT Employment Resource and Benefits Trust, Inc. assembled at its Annual Meeting are hereby notified:

The Nominating Committee appointed by the President submits the following report:

The following members of the 2024 Board of Directors will serve one more year, until December 31, 2025:

Judy Frazier, Town of Proctor Todd Odit, Town of Hinesburg Charles Safford, Town of Stowe

The following member of the 2024 Board of Directors will serve two more years, until December 31, 2026:

Bryan Young, Town of Orwell

The Committee is required to submit nominations to fill up to three three-year terms.

The Committee recommends the following candidate to the Board of Directors to serve a three-year term until December 31, 2027:

Kelly Murphy, City of Montpelier

Respectfully submitted,

Bryan Young, Chair (Town of Orwell) Judy Frazier (Town of Proctor)

Page 18

2025-2026 Municipal Policy (DRAFT)

Municipal Guiding Principles

Vermont League of Cities and Towns (VLCT) supports:

- 1. a robust and transparent partnership between state and local government;
- 2. granting municipalities authority to legislate solutions to matters solely affecting the municipality;
- 3. inter-municipal collaboration to develop regional governance structures that provide the technical, administrative and financial scale necessary to tackle multi-jurisdictional issues without dismantling local control;
- 4. creating sustainable funding for municipalities beyond the property tax to ensure every municipality can meet its obligations, including sharing revenue collected or raised at the municipal level;
- 5. building racially just, equitable, diverse, and inclusive communities of belonging and taking meaningful action to effect systemic changes that heal racial divisions;
- 6. local discretion to pursue sustainable housing, economic development, recovery, and resiliency, including substantial deference to municipal planning, zoning, and siting decisions;
- 7. flexibility in implementing state regulatory and statutory requirements;
- 8. including local officials in determining changes in local response to emergency situations;
- 9. state collection of fees and taxes assessed to implement statewide goals;
- 10. resources to provide sustainable public safety, fire protection, and emergency medical services; and
- 11. direct aid to municipalities to mitigate the effects of economic distress.

Each new obligation imposed on municipalities without sufficient funding to cover its costs results in increased municipal property taxes or fees. VLCT opposes all unfunded mandates, pre-emption of municipal action, regulatory overreach by state agencies not supported in statute, and cost shifts to local government. We urge the completion of fiscal impact statements that itemize potential shifts in costs to local governments prior to action being taken by the legislature or administration.

1.0 Finance, Administration and Intergovernmental Relations (FAIR)

1.1 PRIORITIES

- 1. Provide municipalities with technical assistance and funding necessary to meet existing obligations;
- 2. Avoid the creation of new layers of government in solving local capacity challenges and instead focus on empowering local governments to band together to create councils of government and other inter-municipal agreements to reach scale;
- 3. Designate the State Ethics Commission to receive, investigate and report on municipal ethics complaints; and
- 4. Give Vermonters new tools to hold municipal officials accountable by authorizing municipalities, at a town meeting, to hold recall elections.

1.2 VERMONT TAX STRUCTURE OVERHAUL

- 1. Establish a municipal revenue sharing program that provides sustainable, reliable annual funding to every municipality to support the delivery of services, innovative programs, and maintenance of infrastructure;
- 2. Reform Vermont's tax system to ensure sustainability, affordability, equity, and balance;
- 3. Reimburse municipalities for all state-mandated property tax exemptions, or provide local voters with the authority to impose municipal service fees on such properties;
- 4. Extend locally implemented tax stabilization agreements to education tax obligations to encourage and promote economic growth; and
- 5. Make accurate and timely aggregated tax return data available to municipalities to address a range of issues including short term rentals and local option tax collections, to facilitate audits and inform local decision making.

Page 20

1.2 K-12 EDUCATION

- 1. Establish a transparent education finance system that reduces the education property tax and links voters' actions in approving budgets to the taxes they pay to fund their school districts;
- 2. Revise Vermont's education funding system;
- 3. Use Education Fund monies only for pre-K-12 education;
- 4. Authorize the local legislative body to appoint a replacement member representing that municipality to a consolidated school board in the event of a vacancy until an election is held;
- 5. Establish a cap on the annual increase of education property tax rates that the legislature may enact;
- 6. Acknowledge the burden on education property taxpayers and assure skyrocketing residential property values do not prevent Vermonters' from staying in their homes;
- 7. Ensure no property owner pays less than \$0 in education property taxes; and
- 8. Hold municipalities harmless from paying education property taxes that are uncollected due to delinquencies.

1.3 OPEN MEETING, PUBLIC RECORDS, AND ELECTION LAWS

- 1. Apply the Open Meeting Law and Public Records Act to the legislative branch of state government;
- 2. Provide clarity, flexibility and better definitions regarding how advisory and nonadvisory public bodies must comply with the Open Meeting Law;
- 3. Provide adequate funding and practical recommendations to municipalities that enables them to comply with Open Meeting Law and Public Records Act mandates;
- 4. Amend the Public Records Act to reduce individuals' ability to harass public officials with repetitive public records requests; and
- 5. Modernize posting requirements for open meetings, public records and legal notice laws to allow for electronic postings.

1.4 PROTECTING AND ENHANCING MUNICIPAL FINANCE

- 1. Continue state payments of costs to defend grand list and property tax collections including appeals, attorneys' fees, and abatements, in proportion to the state share of overall property taxes;
- 2. Provide collectors of delinquent taxes the resources and authority to collect unpaid taxes in compliance with Act 106;
- 3. Allow municipalities to employ the prudent fiscal practice of providing for an unrestricted fund balance within the municipal general fund budget;
- 4. Require local legislative body approval of the county operating budget;
- 5. Eliminate the mandate that local governments take over non-municipal cemeteries unless the state pays for the expenses to do so;
- 6. Continue state funding of education for local officials whose responsibilities include complying with state performance standards;
- 7. Revise the formula for payment in lieu of taxes (PILOT) for state-owned property specified in 32 V.S.A. § 3701 3707.
 - a. Return existing and any future surplus in the PILOT fund to municipalities;
 - b. Revise and reduce the precent of Local Option Tax (LOT) withheld by the state to make PILOT payments;
 - c. Provide aggregate data to municipalities assessing Local Option Taxes that demonstrate which sectors are paying LOT and establishes a mechanism for auditing LOT revenues to the assessing municipality;
 - d. Make PILOT payments to assessing municipalities on a quarterly basis;
- 8. Increase clerk fees and establish a three-year cycle for reviewing and updating them consistent with the schedule for state fees; and
- 9. Adopt for municipalities the monetary damages cap that the legislature has enacted for the State but not municipalities.

1.5 HEALTH CARE

- 1. Assure that every community has access to affordable, accessible, quality health care; and
- 2. Address the root causes of the escalation in cost for health care services and commit to controlling the costs of the health care system.

2.0 Transportation

2.1 PRIORITIES

- 1. Simplify funding, permitting, and program administration to maximize use of all state and federal dollars;
- 2. Ensure transparency and collaboration with municipalities when developing the transportation budget and allocating funds to cities, towns, and villages;
- 3. Provide enough funding to municipalities to build and maintain a modern transportation system that can withstand increased use, the impacts of climate change, and other safety demands;
- 4. Develop diverse and sustainable Transportation Fund funding sources that achieve the state goal of reducing fossil fuel usage, are commensurate with use of state and local transportation infrastructure, capture usage by out of state visitors, and consider the reality of rural residents' road usage;
- 5. Secure additional funding for core municipal transportation programs (Town Highway Aid, Town Structures, Town Bridges) sufficient to pay for statutory obligations to provide safe transportation for the traveling public;
- 6. Encourage adoption of the "Complete Streets" program, finalize updated State Design Standards, and incorporate their principles into projects, including in rural villages and on town highways;
- 7. Establish policies that empower municipalities to reduce local emissions, increase resiliency to the effects of climate change, and participate in the transition to a cleaner energy economy;
- 8. Authorize municipalities to set speed limits on roads below 25 m.p.h.; and
- 9. Provide new funding to electrify vehicles and equipment and install charging infrastructure.

2.2 ADDITIONAL FUNDING PRIORITIES

- 1. Ensure that funding for local transportation meets current local assessments of documented needs and design standards;
- 2. Remit a portion of vehicle registration fee to the municipality in which the vehicle is registered to support the municipal road maintenance budget;

2025-2026 Municipal Policy (DRAFT) Continued

- 3. Provide funding and technical support so town highways, culverts, and bridges are accurately rated for weights they carry;
- 4. Fund, design and build resilient infrastructure that can withstand more extreme weather and meets stormwater management standards through construction, upon completion, and in the next storm;
- 5. Ensure that funding for the Town Highway Emergency Fund is sufficient to cover municipal costs resulting from natural or human-caused disasters, regardless of a Federal Disaster Declaration;
- Appropriately fund programs such as Complete Streets, alternative transportation, and bike – pedestrian improvements through block grants to achieve implementation success;
- 7. Establish adequate state funding of right-sized, efficient public transit services that support the social services and transportation priorities of a state-wide system; and
- 8. Support the design-bid-build process in all VTrans funded projects.

2.3 STATE AND LOCAL COOPERATION

- 1. Improve VTrans response, communication and cooperation with municipalities;
- 2. Provide incentives to municipalities to take over state highways that function as main streets;
- 3. Eliminate provisions in VTrans' master license agreements that require municipalities to indemnify VTrans or the railroads on activities related to municipal projects;
- 4. Establish deference to local experience and conditions when studying speed limits on state highways;
- 5. Allow VTrans district transportation administrators to enter into agreements with municipalities for use of VTrans equipment for small projects when not in use by the district;
- 6. Establish state tracking of municipal paving projects and town highway to inform funding needs and prioritize Class 1, 2, and 3 highway paving needs statewide;
- 7. Consult with municipalities when deciding where to install rumble strips on state highways and paved Class 2 highways;

Page 24

2025-2026 Municipal Policy (DRAFT) Continued

- 8. Require private property owners to install and maintain stormwater and flood resiliency controls to prevent damage to municipal and state highways; and
- 9. Direct VTrans to develop a state-wide inventory of private property owners' installed stormwater and flood resiliency controls that is available not only to the state but also to municipalities.

2.4 COMMERCIAL VEHICLES

- 1. Develop a statewide and state run, process for permitting overweight or oversized vehicles on all roads;
- 2. Index and raise vehicle registration fees to axle weight and remit fees to the Transportation Fund;
- 3. Remit a portion of overweight permitting fees to municipalities; and
- 4. Require commercial, forestry, and agricultural custom service vehicles to comply with all motor vehicle laws when operating on state and local highways.

2.5 RAIL

- 1. Require all railroad-related projects to comply with all environmental regulations;
- 2. Require rail companies to notify municipalities of hazardous materials they are transporting through or storing within a municipality;
- 3. Work with railroad companies to prohibit trains from speeding in downtown areas;
- 4. Extend and enhance passenger rail service from Bennington to Montreal as soon as practicable;
- 5. Authorize municipalities to extend municipal amenities and infrastructure under or across railroad tracks to serve residents, with no railroad imposed annual charge, ensure access to maintain them, and protect municipalities from liability for accidents caused by the railroad or VTrans that affect those lines; and
- 6. Require all railroads and railroad-related projects to maintain stormwater and flood resiliency infrastructure so as not to damage municipal infrastructure and disclose the condition of such infrastructure to host municipalities.

3.0 Public Safety

3.1 PRIORITIES

- 1. Implement initiatives that reverse the critical shortage of public safety personnel statewide and that implement new ways to recruit and retain them;
- 2. Implement law enforcement principles of procedural justice and continued efforts to ensure:
 - a. fair, equitable, and impartial law enforcement;
 - b. building trust and legitimacy in communities including marginalized, vulnerable, and disadvantaged populations;
 - c. sound policy and oversight mechanisms in accordance with the governance structure of the municipality;
 - d. best practices in the use of technology and social media;
 - e. community policing principles that include crime reduction strategies;
 - f. ongoing training and education to employees;
 - g. officer wellness, safety, mental health, and critical incident stress management; and
 - h. sufficient funding to attain these goals;
- 3. Provide public safety officials with the technology, authority, information, training, funding, and revenue to ensure the above law enforcement services;
- 4. Ensure statewide access to affordable state-of-the-art telecommunications services that benefit public safety and first responders and builds the economy;
- 5. Support Fire Departments and Emergency Medical Services in meeting OSHA/VOSHA standards; and
- 6. Preserve qualified immunity for law enforcement and all government officials.

3.2 OPIOID CRISIS

- 1. Establish funding to increase the availability of on-demand drug abuse and mental health treatment services;
- 2. Extend eligibility for Medicaid reimbursement to addiction treatment;
- 3. Provide funding to establish and maintain sober housing alternatives;

2025-2026 Municipal Policy (DRAFT) Continued

- 4. Increase efforts to disrupt, arrest and prosecute drug dealers and suppliers; and
- 5. Assure policies balance and deliver treatment, accountability, and enforcement services.

3.3 JUDICIARY

- 1. Improve the judicial system's capacity to require accountability for offenders' actions;
- 2. Sufficiently fund and staff the Vermont Statewide Treatment Court and implement recommendations for improvement; and
- 3. Establish accountability for transparent, accurate and timely reporting of data on judicial disposition of cases, individual recidivism, and recovery rates, to assure the safety of the public.

3.4 STATE, LOCAL, AND REGIONAL COOPERATION

- 1. Incentivize and provide on-going funding and assistance to support municipalities that explore, consolidate, integrate, or regionalize public safety services;
- 2. Establish systemic criminal justice reforms that address the drivers of crime and reduce re-offending;
- 3. Provide for sealing of criminal records in place of their expungement to ensure protection of victims and the public;
- 4. Authorize a Vermont law enforcement officer to make an arrest based on a warrant from another state;
- 5. Maintain the independent status and function of the E-911 Board;
- 6. Assure all dispatch systems are compatible and can communicate with one another;
- 7. Ensure equal access to emergency services exist in rural communities; and
- 8. Establish a default statewide ban on firearms in designated municipal buildings/property, from which an individual municipality may opt out.

Page 27

3.5 CORRECTIONS, MENTAL HEALTH, AND ADDICTION

- 1. Establish a statewide, integrated approach for wellness, critical incident stress management, mental health and addiction services across health, human services, first responders, and public safety departments and agencies;
- 2. Notify municipal officials when the state transports or provides unhoused individuals temporary housing in a municipality and require the state provide necessary support services;
- 3. Develop collaborative solutions among all affected stakeholders to manage incapacitated persons;
- 4. Require the Department of Corrections (DOC) to notify local officials of changes in offenders' status, particularly those at risk to re-offend, collaborate with local officials in the placement of released persons, and assure reasonable support and supervision is in place to protect the community, victim, and offender;
- 5. Adhere to municipal zoning in approving housing for offenders and unhoused individuals and locating adequate supervision and support services for those individuals; and
- 6. Authorize DOC officials to serve citations and domestic abuse orders to offenders in correctional facilities in lieu of municipal police officers serving them.

3.6 PUBLIC SAFETY FUNDING

- 1. Establish a systemic approach to financially support call handling and dispatch emergency services;
- 2. Increase cooperation of state agencies for incident response on interstate and state highways to share the burden currently placed on local public safety departments;
- 3. Authorize local emergency service agencies to recover all costs associated with complying with any federal, state, or court-ordered licensing, registration, training, or testing requirements;
- 4. Provide funding to municipalities to undertake drug investigations at the local level; and
- 5. Continue to support and fund state increased Medicaid reimbursement rates for Emergency Medical Services (EMS) to cover the actual cost of care.

Page 28

3.7 PUBLIC SAFETY TRAINING

- 1. Institute flexible alternatives to the residential Vermont Police Academy training program;
- 2. Provide adequate funding and resources to the Vermont Fire Academy, Vermont Police Academy, and the Department of Health for certified training programs and activities for all emergency services personnel;
- 3. Ensure that statutorily authorized training mandates and the associated impacts on public safety personnel and agencies are current, necessary, and appropriate to an officer's level of experience;
- Focus Vermont Police Academy funding and training on core law enforcement responsibilities, including the VLCT Board adopted document entitled <u>Perspectives on Police Reform</u>;
- 5. Provide adequate funding to ensure appropriate levels of staffing and training to each sector of the public safety community;
- 6. Implement standards for providing reciprocity with other states' training programs;
- 7. Continue to fund training for emergency medical service providers; and
- 8. Create additional opportunities outside of existing state-sponsored programming, such as through tech centers, colleges and universities, and non-traditional education providers enabling more Vermonters to become certified public safety officials, including police, fire fighters and emergency medical service providers.

4.0 Quality of Life and Housing

4.1 PRIORITIES

- 1. Enable every municipality in the state to grow economic vitality by encouraging and facilitating community-driven economic development in those places municipalities have designated for growth;
- 2. In collaboration with local governments, develop coordinated, long term, statewide recovery plans that address the wide range of resiliency and rebuilding needs across agencies, services, and municipalities; and
- 3. Establish new sources of adequate, ongoing funding to invest in infrastructure in downtowns, new town centers, villages, and any area in which state or local policies encourage housing or economic development.

4.2 HOUSING

- 1. The state is responsible for providing transitional and supportive housing for Vermonters. The state must lead homelessness prevention and response efforts including establishing and following a plan to address unit production, mental health service delivery and homeless shelter creation;
- 2. Establish funding and incentives that support the variety of housing needed across the state and which has been encouraged through recent housing legislation;
- 3. Ensure new density requirements don't contribute to the proliferation of short-term rentals;
- 4. Implement policies that encourage, but do not mandate, models of high-density, multi-unit housing, because solutions to the housing crisis must be appropriate to the size and planning priorities of every municipality;
- 5. Direct housing incentives and programs to areas designated in municipal plans and provide for water and sewer capacity in those places;
- 6. Reform the General Assistance Hotel/Motel Emergency Housing Program to ensure equitable and proportionate impact on municipalities; and
- 7. Prioritize funding and regulatory reform to facilitate design, construction, and maintenance of infrastructure to support development and redevelopment of the wide variety of housing Vermonters need (workforce, elderly, downsizing, middle income, affordable, and supportive).

4.3 LOCAL LAND USE AND ACT 250 REGULATORY REFORM

- 1. Authorize local governments to establish targeted, performance-based contracts to support the infrastructure needed to realize Act 250 reforms and housing development enabled in the 2024 Community Resilience and Biodiversity Protection Through Land Use (Act 181);
- 2. Provide adequate funding and support, and ensure municipal input when implementing new land-use mapping and Act 250 location-based jurisdiction;
- 3. Ensure the Community Investment Program (replaces Downtown Designation Program) defers to municipal plans and authority when transitioning existing designated areas, granting new areas, and offering benefits;
- 4. Base development decisions upon adopted municipal plans and use adopted regional plans as guidance documents; and
- 5. Increase the threshold for appeals of projects located in approved designated areas.

4.4 ECONOMIC GROWTH

- 1. Establish a program to enable municipalities to invest in infrastructure that supports a transformational economic development project in the community; and
- 2. Provide local authority to designate appropriate areas for cultivation of cannabis through zoning.

5.0 Environment

5.1 PRIORITIES

- 1. Develop a long term, coordinated and comprehensive plan across government silos to address resiliency, water quality, waste management, and sustainable growth in the built and natural environments;
- 2. Provide municipalities with new resources, authority, and avenues for intermunicipal collaboration to respond to the impacts of climate change;
- 3. Develop regional governance structures that provide the administrative and financial scale necessary to tackle issues that cross municipal boundaries through a framework which balances local authority with the need for collective action; and
- 4. Charge the State with the responsibility of managing rivers, streams, and watersheds for resiliency and recovery.

5.2 CLIMATE ACTION AND ENVIRONMENT

- 1. Share federal and state resources to assist in local resilience and adaptation efforts;
- 2. Ensure ongoing funding for the Flood Resilient Communities Fund (the state flood impacted property buy-out program) including relocation and rebuilding of municipal properties in flood danger;
- 3. Implement policies that empower municipalities to reduce emissions across all sectors, plan for and increase resiliency to the effects of climate change, and transition to cleaner energy sources;
- 4. Increase state energy code compliance without imposing further mandates or administrative burdens on municipalities;
- 5. Provide accessible, low barrier funding for weatherization efforts at scale;
- Ensure local input and control over siting and permitting of energy projects, including decisions about building close to where energy will be used (close to load);
- 7. Hold municipalities harmless from liability for presence or consequences of forever chemicals;

Page 32

2025-2026 Municipal Policy (DRAFT) Continued

- 8. Relax regulations that require relocation of lightly contaminated urban soil, and aligns with policies to encourage economic development and housing in urban locations;
- 9. Increase funding for brownfield clean-up and redevelopment; and
- 10. Continue protection of habitat blocks, forest blocks, river corridors, wetlands for carbon sequestration and resiliency, flood and stormwater mitigation, and aquifer recharge.

5.3 AGENCY OF NATURAL RESOURCES SYSTEM IMPROVEMENT

- 1. Produce efficient and coordinated permitting, grant management, program management and enforcement of regulations across the Agency of Natural Resources (ANR);
- 2. Direct and authorize leadership in ANR and the Department of Environmental Conservation (DEC) to:
 - a. Provide leadership in developing regional solutions in pursuit of conservation and resiliency initiatives.
 - b. Undertake a comprehensive review of all rules with the objective of reducing burdens and liabilities to municipalities.
 - c. Require rule revisions that balance conservation and resiliency objectives with municipal capacity and societal needs in Vermont and prohibit "Interim Strategies" and "Guidelines" as substitutes for duly adopted rules.
 - d. Resolve regulatory conflicts in favor of the programs or requirements that produce the most economically feasible environmental benefits whenever compliance projects encounter conflicting requirements among state agency and department programs.
 - e. Whenever possible, provide a "service provider model" for technical, engineering and planning assistance as opposed to competitive grants; and
- 3. Ensure timely responses from ANR at all levels and in all programs regarding permit and permit renewal requirements, and clear guidance for implementing those requirements.

5.4 VERMONT CLEAN WATER ACT FUNDING AND IMPLEMENTATION

- 1. Ensure that federal and state funding instead of competitive grants pay for federal and Vermont Clean Water Act priorities;
- Provide sufficient funding for project development including research, planning, design, and scoping to ensure that projects will successfully implement mandates such as Municipal Separate Storm Sewer System (MS4) General Permits, Vermont's Stormwater Total Maximum Daily Loads (TMDLs), Combined Sewer Systems, and Municipal Road General Permits (MRGPs);
- 3. Establish a statewide authority for the centralized collection of impervious surfaces or per parcel fees, development, and implementation of clean water projects;
- 4. Afford relief from permit compliance deadlines when corresponding funding is delayed or eliminated;
- 5. Prohibit diverting Revolving Clean Water funds to other purposes;
- 6. Update river corridor plans and develop a hazard mitigation plan that promotes reductions to the impacts of natural disasters including flooding; and
- 7. Provide funding to assure dam safety and enable compliance with regulations.

5.5 TOTAL MAXIMUM DAILY LOADS (TMDLS)

- 1. Direct ANR to track and publish up-to-date data on the cost to construct TMDLcompliant projects to ensure consistency, transparency, and unified standards;
- 2. Allow permitted entities to pursue water quality gains elsewhere in the drainage basin when the cost of treatment at facilities within regulatory boundaries reaches an excessive benefit-to-cost ratio;
- 3. Ensure fair, effective, efficient spending of local, state, and federal dollars to achieve TMDL goals;
- 4. Subject potential mitigation efforts to a cost-effectiveness analysis and base implementation on that analysis;
- 5. Reduce and cost-effectively infiltrate runoff from non-point sources of pollution on all properties; and
- 6. Implement policies supporting regenerative solutions that harness nutrient cycles to improve water quality and quantity, and restore soil fertility, microbial activity, and moisture-holding capacity.

Page 34

5.6 POTABLE WATER AND WASTEWATER SYSTEM PERMITTING

- 1. Enforce provisions of the Wastewater Systems and Potable Water Supplies Program, including requirements to repair or replace failed on-site septic systems;
- 2. Establish sufficient funding and technical assistance support to municipalities to protect public health by ensuring availability of potable water supplies and to test for, remediate, and manage per- and polyfluoroalkyl substances (PFAS) contamination;
- 3. Regulate emerging contaminants at the source instead of the point of discharge in a science-based and economically feasible manner;
- 4. Redefine "waters of the state" to exclude constructed waterworks such as reservoirs, settling ponds, and any infrastructure related to water supplies;
- 5. Apply new permitting requirements only upon expiration of the five-year permit term and renewal;
- 6. Eliminate duplicative state permitting of connections to water and wastewater utilities; and
- 7. Develop a residuals management policy and modified regulations that ensure instate municipal disposal options.

5.7 MATERIALS MANAGEMENT

- 1. Hold municipalities harmless from liability for any hazardous material incident at any facility or property that conforms with all state and federal permits and regulations;
- 2. Hold municipalities harmless from liability for any PFAS-related contamination;
- 3. Regulate complete treatment processes for materials such as wastewater, solid waste, and recyclables through single permits that address the entire treatment cycle at a facility, and issuing permits for a facility based on its useful life or capacity;
- 4. Prioritize DEC implementation of regional septage, residuals, and solid waste management strategies;
- 5. Develop a plan for solid waste management facilities (landfills) closer to the point of waste production to reduce the carbon footprint of waste transportation, increase efficiency, reduce waste and protect Vermont's waters; and
- 6. Incentivize and fairly compensate municipalities for hosting a landfill.